**RECEIVED**

**Aug 09 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Christian Wienands, Charlotte Muxlow, and Gregory  
Muxlow,.....Appellants,

v.

South Wind Ranch, Ronald Hakala, and Ashley Black, .....Respondents.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000081

**APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF**

*s/Joshua T. Hawkins*

Joshua T. Hawkins, S.C. Bar #78470

Helena L. Jedziniak, S.C. Bar #100825

Hawkins & Jedziniak, LLC

1225 South Church Street

Greenville, South Carolina 29605

(864) 275-8142 (telephone)

(864) 752-0911 (facsimile)

josh@hjllcsc.com

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THE APPELLANTS SUBMITTED ENTIRE DEPOSITION TRANSCRIPTS AND A VERIFIED PLEADING SUPPORTING THEIR CLAIMS
  
2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING VIOLATES THE APPELLANTS' RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION AND THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a trial court's grant of summary judgment. After the appellants paid a deposit to South Wind Ranch, a wedding venue, the wedding *as planned and contracted for* was made impossible by the Coronavirus and related government prohibitions. When the appellants sought to reschedule their wedding, South Wind Ranch unilaterally increased the price by several thousand dollars more than the contracted-for price. Due to South Wind's breach and increase in cost, the appellants asked for a refund of their deposit, which the respondents refused. The appellants then discovered that the respondents had made important and material fraudulent statements in the inducement and making of the contract, which the appellants had relied on in paying their deposit. After the appellants paid their deposit, the respondents made several other misrepresentations, which caused the appellants to incur additional damages.

The appellants filed suit in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas alleging causes of action for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, quantum meruit, and negligence. South Wind moved to dismiss, essentially arguing that the appellants may *only* file a breach of contract claim. The trial court rightly denied that motion because the appellants stated all the elements of the established causes of action pleaded in the complaint and also stated voluminous facts to support them. South Wind then filed a motion for summary judgment, again arguing that the appellants may only pursue a breach of contract claim. The appellants responded to the motion by submitting entire deposition transcripts and text messages supporting their claims and directed the court's attention to the filed verification of the complaint.

Notwithstanding the appellants' substantial evidence in support of their claims, the trial court granted the respondents' motion for summary judgment. The appellants timely filed a Rule

59(e) motion, which the trial court denied. The appellants then timely filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

### FACTS

In 2019, the appellants visited South Wind Ranch, toured the venue, met with staff, and booked the venue for the planned wedding of Charlotte Wienands and Gregory Muxlow. The appellants secured their date with a deposit. They later agreed to pay additional fees to Ashley Black in exchange for her wedding planning services. After COVID-19 prevented the Muxlows from proceeding with their wedding as planned,<sup>1</sup> the appellants contacted South Wind Ranch to discuss the possibility of rescheduling their event. Black told the appellants that they *would* be able to move their wedding to a new date and that she would provide them with potential dates. The appellants attempted to contact Black multiple times over the following weeks but were unable to reach her. When the appellants were finally able to speak with Black, they learned that South Wind Ranch had unilaterally doubled the cost of the wedding to be rescheduled for the following year. South Wind refused to resolve the issue with the appellants or to refund their deposit, even though South Wind had not performed any contracted-for services and had misled the appellants.

After the appellants made repeated attempts to resolve the dispute, South Wind Ranch ultimately threatened the appellants with its legal team. Left with no other options and already

---

<sup>1</sup> The appellants originally planned to have a wedding with over 150 people, including at least 10 of Charlotte's closest relatives from Germany. All of this was communicated to South Wind, and South Wind was fully aware that the contracted-for price was for a wedding to include many people, including many from Germany. Because South Wind's fraud and breach forced Charlotte and Gregory to have a make-shift wedding in a national forest without any of Charlotte's family from Germany, the respondents argue that the wedding was not impossible. It is important to note that the respondents entered into an agreement with the appellants *for the purpose* of having a large wedding with Charlotte's family from Germany. Once the respondents received the appellants' money, they refused to provide the contracted-for services and instead used the pandemic to profiteer and unilaterally raise the contracted-for price by several thousand dollars.

having spent time and money in reliance on South Wind's assurances and promises, the appellants filed suit against South Wind Ranch for, *inter alia*, the respondents' deception, unlawful retention of the appellants' funds, and attempt to profit from the pandemic.

South Wind filed a motion to dismiss, arguing that the appellants could only bring a breach of contract claim against the respondents.<sup>2</sup> The trial court denied South Wind's motion and allowed all the appellants' claims to proceed. After the appellants engaged in discovery and gathered evidence and testimony in support of their claims, the respondents moved for summary judgment, again arguing that the appellants could only allege a cause of action for breach of contract. In arguing against the respondents' motion, the appellants submitted entire deposition transcripts and text messages supporting their claims,<sup>3</sup> far surpassing the mere scintilla required to survive the motion. The appellants also pointed the court's attention to a notarized verification of the complaint, which affirms all the allegations of the complaint under oath. This time, though, the trial court granted the respondents' dispositive motion, despite the ruling in *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt., Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009) and its progeny. The appellants timely filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment, which the trial court denied. The appellants then timely filed this appeal.

---

<sup>2</sup> The appellants brought a claim for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, which necessarily includes a breach of contract claim. If the respondents' argument were correct, every breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act claim would be required to be dismissed and breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act would not exist as a cause of action. Similarly, many SCUTPA claims involve breaches of contracts, as trade practice necessarily include sales of goods and services. If SCUTPA claims were subject to dismissal every time a contract was arguably involved, SCUTPA would not exist as a cause of action.

<sup>3</sup> The email to the Court, transcripts, and text messages are incorporated by reference herein, will be included within the Record on Appeal, and all provide more than a scintilla of evidence supporting the appellants' claims.

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. The Trial Court's ruling is in direct conflict with *Hancock*.**

“Summary judgment is proper only when it is clear that ‘there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.’” *Koester v. Carolina Rental Center, Inc.*, 443 S.E. 2d 392, 384 (1994) citing *Hamilton v. Miller*, 301 S.C. 45, 47, 389 S.E.2d 652, 653 (1990). “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Ibid.* In *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt., Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court clearly held that, where there is a scintilla of evidence to support a cause of action, the trial court must deny a motion for summary judgment.

Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the appellants, genuine issues of material fact exist such that a grant of summary judgment was improper. In its argument against the respondents' motion, the appellants submitted ample evidence in support of their claims. For example, the appellants established that South Wind, through its owner Ron Hakala, is engaged in a business that affects commerce and members of the public and is capable of repetition. *See e.g.*, (Ronald Hakala Deposition Transcript - R. p. 84, lines 8-14; R. p. 84, lines 5-7; R. p. 91, lines 3-6; R. p. 104, lines 4-15; R. p. 109, lines 11-22; Ashley Black Deposition Transcript – R. p. 133, lines 14-17; R. p. 169, lines 18-25). The appellants showed, through the transcripts submitted and through the allegations of their verified complaint, that the respondent's SCUTPA violations directly affected and damaged them in the very events giving rise to this action. This evidence directly supports the appellants' unfair trade practices claim and exceeds the mere scintilla required to survive summary judgment.

The appellants also submitted evidence that the respondents misled them with statements in the making of the contract at issue and that the respondents unilaterally increased the agreed upon price after the pandemic made the wedding the parties agreed to plan impossible. (Hakala Dep. – R. p. 73, lines 2-9; Black Dep. - R. p. 138, lines 13-22; R. p. 139, lines 16-25; R. p. 18, lines 10-25, R. p. 141, lines 1-4; R. p. 147, lines 13-19). *See also* the verified complaint, Paragraph 13, which states “...the plaintiffs relied on statements and assurances made by the defendants and booked the venue for a wedding date.” (R. p. 19, ¶ 13). Paragraph 17 states the appellants “relied on Blacks assurances” and that the appellants “confirmed” with the appellants “they would be allowed to reschedule and that there were many potential dates.” (R. p. 12, ¶ 17). Paragraph 35 states that the respondents “attempted to manufacture a self-serving record with emails” and that those emails stated falsehoods related to the appellants’ willingness and effort to schedule the wedding for a date when the pandemic would not make it impossible. (R. p. 24, ¶ 35). Ashley Black’s false statements about the possibility of rescheduling and her work to secure alternate dates is described in Paragraphs 17 through 35. (R. pp. 19-24, ¶ ¶13-35).

In all, the appellants submitted much more than a scintilla of evidence to support their allegations that the respondents made fraudulent and misleading statements in the inducement and the making of a contract; engaged in unfair and deceptive business practices which affect the public and are capable of repetition; price gouged and profited from the pandemic; and were unjustly enriched due to retention of funds paid toward an event made impossible by the pandemic. The evidence supporting these claims includes multiple deposition transcripts, text messages between the parties, and a verification, which makes allegations of the complaint sworn under oath.

It should be noted that the appellants' verified complaint *alone* should have been sufficient to survive the respondents' motion for summary judgment.<sup>4</sup> "A verified complaint is an acceptable substitute for an affidavit at the summary judgment phase as long as the pleading satisfies Rule 56(e)." *Dawkins v. Fields*, 345 S.C. 58, 67, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438 (2003); *See also, Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc.*, 351 S.C. 459, 471, 570 S.E.2d 197, 203 (2002) ("[t]he facts contained in a verified complaint operate as a substitute for an opposing affidavit for summary judgment when the facts contained in the verified complaint are based on personal knowledge). Because the appellants submitted evidence to rebut the respondents' summary judgment motion and submitted a verified complaint, under *Hancock*, the trial court should have denied the motion.<sup>5</sup>

## **II. The trial court's ruling violates the constitutions of South Carolina and the Unites States.**

The United States Constitution provides for the right to a jury trial for civil causes of action: "In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved..." U.S. Const. amend. VII. The South Carolina Constitution goes further, requiring that the right to a jury trial be preserved "inviolable." S.C. Const. art. 1, §14; SCRCP 38(a). The appellants completely lost their right to a jury trial under the constitutions of South Carolina and the United States because the trial court, instead of a jury, decided all the fact

---

<sup>4</sup> Although the complaint's caption does not read as a verified complaint, the appellants submitted a verification via letter to the Court. A clocked copy of that verification is contained within the Record on Appeal. (R. p. 27).

<sup>5</sup> Even if the respondents were correct that the appellants were required to proceed on a breach of contract claim, the trial court should not have usurped the jury's role in deciding fact questions about mutual assent, performance, and breach but should have allowed the appellants to amend the complaint. (Pursuant to Rule 15(a) SCRCP, "leave to amend shall be freely given "when justice so requires." SCRCP.) Instead, the trial court made factual determinations of whether there was fraud in the making of the contract, who breached the contract, whether retention of money paid for something that later became impossible was allowed, and other fact questions that must be answered only by a jury.

questions related to their case. In order to do this, the trial court had to ignore all of the evidence submitted by the appellants and ignore the requirement that all facts, evidence, and inferences be viewed in light most favorable to the appellants. The court had to ignore the requirement that all facts alleged in the verified complaint must be taken as true. If the verified complaint is true, as it must be viewed by the court, then the respondents engaged in deceptive business practices, engaged in fraud in making and then breaching a contract, and unjustly enriched themselves by retaining – and attempting to increase – money paid for the completion of an impossible performance. That means a jury may, and likely will, find for the appellants. Deciding the facts and outcome of the appellants’ case violated their rights under the constitutions of South Carolina and the United States because it robbed them of a right guaranteed by those constitutions.<sup>6</sup>

Even if a breach of contract claim were more appropriate than those pleaded, the trial court should not have usurped the jury’s role in deciding fact questions about mutual assent, performance, and breach. Instead, amendment of the complaint would have been more appropriate since, pursuant to Rule 15(a) SCRCP, “leave to amend shall be freely given when justice so requires.” SCRCP 15(a). In dismissing the case entirely, the trial court made factual determination of whether there was fraud in the making of the contract, who breached the contract, whether retention of money paid for something impossible was allowed, and other fact questions appropriate only for a jury.

Finally, it should be noted that the appellants have a right to a jury trial for both their common law causes of action and their statutory cause of action under the South Carolina Unfair

---

<sup>6</sup> In addition to their right to a jury trial, the trial court also violated the appellants’ rights under the Equal Protection clause because it treated them differently than similarly situated litigants who are afforded their constitutional right to a jury trial and allowed to proceed with their claims, especially under the scintilla standard.

Trade Practices Act. The United States Supreme Court has “...considered the applicability of the constitutional right to a jury trial in actions enforcing statutory rights ‘as a matter too obvious to be doubted.’” *Curtis v. Loether*, 415 U.S. 189 (1974) (quoting *Parsons v. Bedford*, 3 Pet. 433 (1830)). See also *Dairy Queen, Inc. v. Wood*, 369 U.S. 469 (1962) and *Hepner v. United States*, 213 U.S. 103 (1909)).

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the appellants respectfully request that the trial court’s grant of summary judgment be reversed and this case be remanded for trial.