THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jul 31 2023

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2021-CP-23-04416

Appellate Case No. 2023-000081

Christian Wienands, Gregory Muxlow and Charlotte Muxlow,

Appellants,

v.

South Wind Ranch, Ronald Hakala, and Ashley Black,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

K. Jay Anthony
650 E. Washington Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
864.301.8141 p
864.203.8877 f
janthony@anthonylawsc.com

Attorneys for Respondent

July 31, 2023

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

DISCUSSION

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

Appellants’ entire lawsuit – and all of their claims – stem from their rental of South Wind Ranch as a venue for their wedding. As shown above, this rental was governed by contracts. Appellants deliberately chose not to plead “Breach of Contract” as a cause of action – which is telling – but this tactic does not allow them to simply avoid the contracts. If that were the case, then contracts would become meaningless.

As shown above, and discussed below, the contracts plainly apply here and Appellants cannot escape them. As a result, each of Appellants’ causes of action – which are all based on acts allowed by the contracts – must fail as a matter of law. Appellants cannot escape this by the assertion of mere conclusory statements regarding some alleged vague misrepresentation.

A. The Contract Precludes All Claims

An action to construe a contract is an action at law. See McGill v. Moore, 381 S.C. 179, 180, 679 S.E.2d 571, 574 (2009). “The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties’ intentions as determined by the contract language.” Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). “Where the contract’s language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract’s force

and effect.” Id. “It is a question of law for the court whether the language of a contract is ambiguous.” S.C. Dep’t of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302-03 (2001).

As noted, Plaintiffs notably did not plead Breach of Contract as a cause of action. Nonetheless, the contracts unquestionably apply here and preclude every one of the Plaintiffs’ causes of action. There is no dispute in this case regarding the following points:

- The Plaintiffs entered into binding contracts with South Wind Ranch and Ashley Black. This fact is even pled in the Complaint. (R. p. 25) (“The plaintiffs entered into binding contracts . . .”).
- Both contracts stated that the initial deposits to South Wind and Black – which Plaintiffs now seek to have returned – were non-refundable.(R. p. 203).
- The contracts did not provide for a right to reschedule. (R. p. 262) (“I know rescheduling wasn’t part of the contract . . .”).
- The contracts do not contain any relevant ambiguity.

Given this, the law requires that the plain language of the contracts be enforced, including the clear language stating that the deposits are non-refundable. This is a fact that Plaintiffs were aware of from the very beginning, as they testified they read the contracts.

This ends the analysis, though it is worth noting that Respondents – despite no obligation to do so – offered to allow Appellants to reschedule to another date. However, rather than do so, Plaintiffs rejected the offered dates and insisted on a refund due to what they called their “strained relationship” with South Wind and Black.

Given that the contract applies, each of the Appellants’ causes of action must also fail, as shown below:

B. Plaintiffs’ Claims for Negligence

The elements of a cause of action for Negligence are (1) duty, (2) breach, (3) causation, and (4) damages. Plaintiffs provide a list of ten separate alleged duties within the cause of action. (R. p. 22). None of them is supported by the evidence or defeats the plain language of the contracts. Some alleged duties are simply general statements not found anywhere in our caselaw, such as the alleged duty to “avoid forcing customers to file lawsuits where the defendants have acted tort[i]ously.” (R. p. 22) Others are simply not supported by the evidence and are directly contradicted by the contracts, such as the duty to “refund payment when unable to provide agreed-upon services.” (R. p. 22).

The alleged breaches of the various duties are the same, and amount to alleged tortious behavior for actions which are plainly supported by the contracts, such as “retaining funds in bad faith.” (R. p. 28). In short, as the contracts are plainly applicable here, the Negligence cause of action is not supported by the facts or law. Appellants plainly sought to get around the contractual documents they admit they read and signed by pleading Negligence rather than Breach of Contract. However, the law does not permit this end-run.

C. Unfair Trade Practices Act

The elements of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act are (1) an unfair or deceptive practice under the Act, (2) which has an impact on the public interest, including capable of repetition, (3) an ascertainable loss violation of money or property, and (4) proximate cause. See Charleston Lumber Co., Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp., 318 S.C. 471, 458 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 1995), *rev'd on other grounds*.

Appellants cite to this claim in their Initial Brief as an example of a claim established by the evidence. Yet, even there, they fail to describe an unfair or deceptive act. They did not do so within their pleadings nor through the evidence developed in the year-and-a-half of litigation.

Instead, as with the Negligence cause of action, the acts complained of by Plaintiffs – not returning the deposits – were supported by the contracts. With regard to Plaintiffs complaints about not allowing them to reschedule at the same price, they admit that they did not have this right within the contracts. (R. p. 262) (“I know rescheduling wasn’t part of the contract . . .”).

Moreover, even if we were to assume that the contract was breached – though this is not even alleged by the Plaintiffs - a mere breach of contract, without more, does not constitute a violation of the unfair trade practices act, even if done intentionally. See Key Co. v. Fameco Distributions, Inc., 292 S.C. 524, 526, 357 S.E.2d 476, 478 (Ct. App. 1987). Otherwise, every intentional breach of a contract within a commercial setting would constitute an unfair trade practice and thereby subject the breaching party to treble damages. Id. at 527, 357 S.E.2d at 478.

D. Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act

The elements of Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act are: (1) a breach of contract, (2) fraudulent intent relating to the breach and not merely its making, (3) a fraudulent act accompanying the breach. See Conner v. City of Forest Acres, 348 S.C. 454, 465-66, 560 S.E.2d 606, 612 (2002). In addition, the fraudulent act must be “separate and distinct from the act(s) constituting the breach,” and cannot “merely restate the manner in which [the defendant] is alleged to have breached” the contract. See Smith v. Canal Ins. Co., 275 S.C. 256, 260, 269 S.E.2d 348, 350 (1980).

As noted, Plaintiffs did not include a cause of action for Breach of Contract in the Complaint. Moreover, Mrs. Muxlow was unable to cite to any breach of the contracts in her deposition:

Q. How do you think they breached it?

A. I mean, I’m not an attorney. So I don’t – this is I think getting a little bit too much into the . . .

Q. Well, I mean, you brought this lawsuit, and so I just need to understand. Do you believe my folks violated this contract?

A. I'm not sure how to answer that right now.

(R. p. 256). More importantly, as shown above, the contract is very clear and, as Plaintiffs acknowledged, plainly states that the deposits they seek in this lawsuit were non-refundable:

Q. And you'd agree that it says in the contract that all deposits are nonrefundable except for the security deposit. Correct?

A. Yeah. *I mean, I can read the contract.*

(R. p. 203) (objection omitted) (emphasis added). As there is no breach, there is certainly no evidence of a breach with fraudulent intent. Therefore, this cause of action must also fail.

E. Quantum Meruit

Appellants' final cause of action is for Quantum Meruit. To begin with, this claim fails because actions in quantum meruit are based on the absence of a contract. See ELEMENTS OF CIVIL CAUSES OF ACTION, 5th ed., p.579, citing Johnston v. Brown, 292 S.C. 478, 357 S.E.2d 450 (1987). "Relief under the theory is therefore not available if an action is based on the existence of a contract." See id., citing Gantt v. Morgan, 199 S.C. 138, 18 S.E.2d 672 (1942).

On a more basic level, Appellants cannot meet the elements of the equitable cause of action as they cannot show that Defendants retained a benefit – here, the initial deposit – unjustly. As explained above, the contracts are clear and binding. Even the Appellants agreed that the non-refundable language is clearly contained therein. Consequently, for these reasons, this cause of action also fails.

F. Evidence – Not Conclusory Statements – Are Required to Withstand Summary Judgment

Finally, it must be noted that Appellants’ misunderstand the standard for summary judgment. Both the pleadings and Initial Brief consist of conclusory statements, unsupported by citation to evidence. In fact, Appellants state: “the appellants’ verified complaint *alone* should have been sufficient to survive the respondents’ motion for summary judgment.” See Initial Brief, p.6 (emphasis in original). This is plainly not the law, as a plaintiff must not only allege, but prove its case. See Wright, 413 S.C. at 279-80, 775 S.E.2d at 401 (“[T]he non-moving party must offer some *evidence* that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to each element of the claim.”) (emphasis added). Moreover, Appellants repeatedly assert that they have presented at least a “scintilla” of evidence in support of their claims. However, as this Court has noted: “[A] scintilla is a perceptible amount. There still must be a verifiable spark, not something conjured by shadows.” Gibson v. Epting, 426 S.C. 346, 352, 827 S.E.2d 178, 181 (Ct. App. 2019).

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT’S RULING VIOLATE APPELLANTS’ RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION AND THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA?

Finally, Appellants argue that, by granting Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court deprived Appellants of their right to a jury trial. This argument misunderstands the very nature of the Motion for Summary Judgment, which is granted only when the trial court determines that there not triable issue of material fact for a jury to consider and a party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Consequently, this second issue raised by Appellants presents precisely the same question for the Court as that raised by the first issue – did the trial court err in granting Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment. If the trial court did not err, then no constitutional right was violated.

CONCLUSION

Greg and Charlotte Muxlow signed contracts with the Respondents, which they agreed they read and which they agreed said that their deposits were non-refundable. South Wind and Ashley Black had no obligation to even offer to reschedule, but they did. Yet the Muxlows did not like the offered dates and – in response to Ron Hakala’s e-mail stating, “I’ll work with you if you’ll just pick a date!” and to “[p]lease try to figure out something!” the couple instead canceled the contracts and filed the instant lawsuits seeking the return of the deposits. They sued South Wind but also sued Ron Hakala personally and Ashley Black personally. Appellants are attempting to use the pressure of the legal system to do an end-run around the contract, but they should not be allowed to do so. After more than two years of litigation, these claims should be brought to an end.